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ABSTRACT KEYWORDS
Recordkeeping systems develop under the influence of their envir- First Australian Imperial
onment. An organisation’s compilation of records, their form, con- Force (AIF); recordkeeping;

tent and dissemination can be in response to external factors. How volunteer force; World War I;
the recordkeeping administration of the First Australian Imperial rsmlltary de'”'sgat'on;
Force (AIF) developed, expanded and changed over time is illustra- enator George Pearce
tive of the influences on the creation of records. The administration

of the First Australian Imperial Force, including its recordkeeping,

developed in an environment of heated political debate in Australia

over that nation’s participation in the war and two failed attempts to

introduce conscription. Circumstances in late 1915 combined to

force a reluctant Australian government to intervene in the detail

of AIF records administration in Egypt despite the government’s

expectation that involvement at such a level in AIF management

abroad would be unnecessary. This article examines the circum-

stances at work in Australia that led to such an intervention. It

describes the events leading to the decision and traces the causes

for the decision to factors in the political, social and military context.

Introduction: ‘the insistent demand of the Australian public’

To recruit, train and put into the field the several hundred thousand members of the First
ATF was an extraordinary achievement for Australia, which had only come into existence
as an independent nation state in 1901. Extraordinary also was the creation of the
organisation and administrative processes to manage this force, then unprecedented in
Australia’s history. An essential task facing Australia’s new force was the creation of the
recordkeeping system to maintain details of the AIF’s personnel which has left a legacy of
376,000 personnel files in the National Archives of Australia.!

In November 1915, the Australian Minister for Defence, George Foster Pearce, issued
instructions for the creation of a new unit within the First AIF recordkeeping adminis-
tration in Egypt.” The officer in charge of the Australian Intermediate Base in Cairo,
Colonel Victor Sellheim, was instructed by Australian authorities:

to organise a Central Inquiry Bureau ... for the purpose of dealing with certain special
information which they desire to be forwarded to them daily. This step has been decided
upon at the insistent demand of the Australian Public to get accurate and speedy informa-
tion regarding casualties in much greater detail than is given in the British Services.’
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The circumstances of the Australian government’s intervention in AIF recordkeeping in
Egypt is the subject of this paper.

In late 1915, the Australian government was acutely sensitive to issues that might
affect public morale and voluntary enlistment and give opportunities to the political
opposition to criticise the government. Some in the government may also have been
concerned about the vote of women and their influence over voluntary enlistment. The
Australian government for most of 1915 believed that administration of the First AIF
overseas was the responsibility of the British authorities. Nevertheless, there was
a growing perception of an administrative vacuum in Egypt where no-one represented
Australian interests in relation to the AIF personnel there. With mounting casualties
arose problems that might shake public support for enlistment: the failure of the postal
services, problems with administration of hospitals overseas and the struggle of the AIF
records administration to deliver timely and accurate information of AIF casualties.
These problems attracted the interest of both friends and foes of the government. The
political opposition in Australia used these issues to criticise the government’s adminis-
tration and could play the ultimate card in asserting that failure to provide information to
relatives at home would affect enlistments. Disquiet within government ranks may have
initiated the inquiry by journalist Keith Murdoch who exercised personal influence over
Pearce to act and urged him to impose a solution from Australia. This took the form of
the special unit, created in the recordkeeping section at the Australian Intermediate Base
in Cairo, that subsequently moved to London and became part of the AIF personnel
administration there.

The recruitment problem: ‘have we done all we can do?’

A singular aspect of the First AIF was that it was a volunteer force. Despite two attempts
to introduce conscription the AIF remained throughout World War I reliant on volun-
teer enlistment. Those under 20 years of age required written permission from their
parents to enlist, so it was necessary to persuade not just potential recruits but also their
families. Maintaining enlistment levels became a main preoccupation for the Australian
government and especially for Senator George Pearce as the Minister for Defence. In his
recollections after the war Pearce refers several times to the difficulties of maintaining
enlistment levels and remarks: ‘recruiting campaigns were only less exacting than
political campaigns.” In the face of declining enlistment in early 1915, enrolling depots
were opened for longer hours and recruiting meetings and private recruiting campaigns
were initiated.” In June 1915, the UK government advised the Australian government
that ‘every available man that can be recruited in Australia is wanted’ and Pearce asked at
a public meeting: ‘Have we done all we can do?® Enlistment peaked in July and
August 1915 (36,575 and 25,714) with numbers not matched for the duration of the
war. It declined for the rest of 1915 to 9,119 in December.”

The government was vulnerable to criticism on the recruitment issue. It had promised
in 1915 to have 300,000 troops in the field by June 1916, which necessitated the
immediate raising of an additional new force of 50,000, announced by Prime Minister
William Hughes in November 1915,° in addition to the monthly quota of 9,500 urged by
the British Army Council.” Pearce noted that the government after ‘serious thought’ as to
how the additional number was to be raised had decided on ‘a personal appeal to every
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eligible male.'* In October 1915, one Member of Parliament raised the problem of
recruitment:

Australia has done well but before the struggle is ended, it will have to do a good deal
better ... it ought not to stop short of carrying out in its fullness the promise of the late
Prime Minister [that] we would not stop until we had given our last man and our last
shilling ... The recruiting figures of the last week or two show conclusively that the number
of volunteers coming forward is not sufficient ... I have had considerable experience during
the recruiting campaign . .. but the further I have gone the more I have become convinced of
the increasing difficulty of getting men to come forward ... "'

Censorship: ‘the public mind should not be disturbed’

In these circumstances, the government was sensitive to public perceptions of the
conduct of the war and particularly to the treatment of AIF personnel. In April 1915,
enlistment reached a low for that year (6,250) and the issue was raised in Parliament. It
was suggested the decline was due to the conditions and treatment of soldiers invalided to
Australia from Egypt and that the decline would continue if returned soldiers were
treated badly.'?

The concern for maintaining enlistment found expression in the government’s use of
its powers to restrict public debate. The War Precautions Act passed on 29 October 1914
had given new powers to the Minister for Defence and his department, especially
regarding newspaper censorship.’> One of the rules for press censorship prohibited the
publication of statements ‘likely to prejudice recruitment.'* The government continued
throughout the war to seek to suppress publication of matters deemed detrimental to
recruitment.'” In 1917, it went so far as to ban a temperance publication as it took all its
‘horrible examples” from members of the AIF, so demonstrating, according to Senator
Pearce, that ‘for a father, a son or a husband to enlist as a soldier was to become
a drunkard ... to imperil not merely his own moral character but the moral character
of his wife, his daughter, and his home.” Pearce explained: ‘we are at war, and this country
has to depend for its recruits upon voluntary enlistment. Every publication of this kind
therefore has to be viewed not merely from the stand-point of the moral object of its
author, but from that of whether it will or will not prejudice recruiting.’*®

Concern over the effect of public perceptions on enlistment was acute in late 1915. In
December, Prime Minister William Hughes, wishing to suppress certain newspaper
reports, wrote to Pearce: ‘If this recruiting campaign is to be successful as it must be if
we are to avoid a very serious alternative it is essential that the public mind should not be
disturbed by complaints about hospital treatment, camp troubles or news of the war ‘and
enjoined Pearce to ‘issue instructions to the censors accordingly.” The Deputy Chief
Censor ordered state branches to submit reports of complaints about defence adminis-
tration to the Censor for enquiry before publication ‘in view of certain disparaging
criticism, often of an exaggerated character and directly tending to weaken discipline
and discourage recruiting.’"’
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The home front in 1915: ‘a terrible and unrelieved anxiety’

Recordkeeping in the AIF became a public and political issue in late 1915, the year in which
Australia first experienced the cost of large-scale warfare. Bart Ziino has surveyed the year
1915 through diaries and letters and characterises the dominant response to the Gallipoli
campaign in Australia as ‘a terrible and unrelieved anxiety.'® In the absence of official
news, relatives were plagued by rumours and doubts. Ziino quotes Nellie Fisher whose
sweetheart had left with the first contingent: ‘No sooner did the news come that you had
landed at Egypt than a rumour went round here that 130 had been shot by the enemy
without having had a chance to defend themselves.”'” He also quotes one mother: ‘We are
passing thro’ a time of terrible anxiety just now ... We do not know where you are nor how
you are ... we keep hoping and trusting all is well with you, our dear, dear son’. The early
casualty lists contained mostly the names of officers which caused Nellie Fisher to question
the true state of affairs: ‘I have been thinking of you very much this week, up till today the
total is 59 killed and 37 wounded and nearly all those are officers so there must be a terrible
lot of privates wounded that we have not heard of.” Frank Tate noted: ‘the first casualty lists
have been published and there is gloom everywhere. The wildest rumours are being
circulated.* Ziino gives examples of the rumours of mass captures and massacres. John
Melvin wrote to his son, not knowing he had been killed on the day of the landing: “We are
hungering for some little news of you, if only the formal printed post-card.’

Despite censorship some private letters from soldiers to their families ‘described the
brutality of war’ and these private accounts circulated as rumour or in the press ‘feeding
anxieties about the progress of the war and the safety of loved ones at the front.” The
returning wounded told stories of the realities of war and their physical appearance bore
witness to these.>'

News of casualties brought mixed reactions. One person noted that although the losses
were ‘dreadfully heavy,” ‘the world is ringing of the bravery of the Australians.” A father
said of his dead son that ‘he heard the Empire’s call and died a glorious death.” Eleanor
Moore of the Sisterhood of International Peace thought the casualty lists brought home ‘a
sense of the horror and cruelty of war.*?

The immediate effect of lengthening casualty lists and news of fighting was an upsurge
in enlistment, with July 1915 seeing the highest enlistment for any month of the war.
However, there was also a growing awareness that the war would not end soon.>> From
September rumours circulated of poor planning and provisioning at Gallipoli and by
November the Gallipoli campaign was being spoken of in terms of ‘a blunder.** It was in
this context of anxiety for family members on service, a growing awareness of the cost of
war and failing confidence in swift victory that the government faced the issue of
providing relatives with information on casualties.

The postal service: ‘an inert mass of congealed incompetency’

In 1915 the postal service was a topic of public concern. Families found it difficult to
maintain contact with relatives in the AIF abroad. The return ship journey between
London and Adelaide averaged 50 days.”> With the Gallipoli campaign came to attention
the problem of the post and complaints appeared in newspapers about the postal service.
By 12 August 1915, the total inward mail to Egypt had reached 1,163 bags per week and in
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one 29 day period in July and August the post office had to deal with 8,973 bags of
outward and inward mail.*® By 1916, mail for the troops handled by the army postal
service in the UK had reached a weekly average of 11 million letters and 875,000
parcels.”” The postal service has been described as ‘one of the least successful areas of
administration early in the war and one which led to many well-deserved complaints.*®
One of those complaining was the Australian commander John Monash who remarked
on delays in mail, thefts and non-arrival of parcels.”’ In September 1915, the journalist
Keith Murdoch was in London after visiting Australian troops at Gallipoli.”® He com-
plained to Australia’s High Commissioner in London of ‘the inert mass of congealed
incompetency in the Postal Department.”’

The failure of official information: ‘no news is good news’

The issue with the most potential to affect public morale was the availability of official
information about causalities. Once the AIF went into action at Gallipoli the rate of
casualties began to overwhelm the AIF records administration.”® Overworked medical
staff failed to maintain the paperwork to notify post office officials of the location of
wounded men.> There were delays with British hospitals informing the Australian High
Commissioner in London of Australian wounded sent to Britain. The High Commission
had to increase staft and office space due to the increasing number of inquiries from family
members.* Peter Stanley documents the incidence of delayed notification of casualties and
its effect on families of AIF members in his study of AIF soldiers who died in the first wave
to land at Gallipoli on 25 April 1915.”> Examining their AIF personnel files, he found
extensive delays (up to several months) in notifying families of the death of a relative. In
this time, families might have received incorrect information or no information at all. The
files showed ‘repeated examples of how messages [to the families] were delayed or never
delivered.”*® Lillian Shirley wrote to the Department of Defence on behalf of her parents: ‘Tt
is over 4 months, please try to trace our boy for us.” Mary Gordon lost two sons, one died
three months after the other, but she did not know this as her younger son was for months
notified only as ‘missing’. Her brother telegrammed the Base Records Office in Melbourne:
‘Kindly reply mother in agony [of] suspense.” Walter Scott had not heard from his son since
a few days before the landing at Gallipoli but had received official notification that his son
had been wounded but ‘not reported serious.” The father wrote to Base Records in
September 1915 asking why ‘have [I] not been informed as to his location or progress
towards recovery? Kindly cause enquiries which may relieve my anxiety.” When he wrote
this his son had already been dead for over five months.

Sometimes families would learn of the fate of relatives through private letters or from
fellow soldiers or in other ways before receiving official notification. Two case studies
documented by Peter Stanley are instructive examples. In June and August, the Defence
Department reported that a Sergeant Backman was missing. In response to his sister’s
inquiry Defence advised that he had not been reported as a casualty: Defence had even
cabled the AIF administration in Egypt and received the reply that there was no report on
Backman. In fact, the soldier had been dead for months, as private letters to the family
from his friends indicated. His sister wrote to the Minister for Defence that soldiers had
reported Backman’s death and remarked ‘any thing like that we ought to have heard
before now’ and her mother was ‘nearly out of her mind with grief.” In February 1916,
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a clerk in Base Records in Melbourne wrote: ‘So far as the records show he may still be
alive.” Backman was only officially posted missing five months after his death.

The parents of William Payne received news in late April 1915 that he had been
wounded. In response to their inquiries, Base Records replied: ‘Egyptian authorities
advise me to assume that the absence of further particulars may be accepted as indicative
of satisfactory progress.” Mrs Payne complained that she had received no news for four
months and that ‘the suspense of uncertainty is terrible.” Confirmation came in the form
of the return of a letter which the parents had posted to their son months before, marked
‘killed’. The aunt of one soldier neatly summed up the unsatisfactory state of affairs when
she wrote to Base Records ‘It’s not a private party’s duty to inform families.”*’

Such cases filtered into the press and into Parliament. One Member of Parliament
stated in Parliament that he had received a letter from his brother in the AIF with news
that he had been four weeks in hospital prior to any official notification; he mentioned
another Member whose son had returned to Australia wounded although the family had
received no official notification, and went on to cite two further cases that had been
brought to him of families provided with late or incorrect information.*®

Some could afford to send cablegrams overseas to gain news of their relatives but for
most, with the problems with the mail, the newspapers became the cheap and primary
source of information through the published casualty lists. In October 1915 it was said in
Parliament of a father seeking information about his wounded son: ‘But that the father
was well off and could afford to send a number of cablegrams he would not have got the
information that he did through private sources.* A report of September 1915 men-
tioned that in New Zealand the cable company had granted concessional rates to the
Defence Department which made cabling so cheap that 300 private cables were sent
weekly to Egypt from New Zealand; in contrast, less than 150 cables were sent per month
from the Australian state of New South Wales with a larger population than New Zealand
and more soldiers on duty overseas.*” The Department of Defence in Australia issued 466
casualty lists throughout the war, almost weekly, which listed soldiers killed, wounded
captured or missing.*’ The importance of the casualty lists for relatives to obtain
information is evident in correspondence of the period. Joy Damousi provides
examples.*> One correspondent wrote: ‘It is an awful moment whilst reading the casual-
ties ... We just live from morning to night and night to morning in the hope and trust
that no news is good news ... . *

A sign that Pearce understood the importance of maintaining the flow of information
to families of AIF personnel was his visit in June 1915 to Base Records in Melbourne
where AIF personnel records were maintained. In company with the Adjutant-General
and the Secretary for Defence, Pearce came to inspect ‘the arrangements made for
keeping the records of the men at the front.** Base Records Office was established in
Victoria Barracks, Melbourne, on 20 October 1914 to maintain AIF personnel records
which were updated with information received from the front. Base Records also
compiled the casualty lists and despatched telegrams to next of kin when a soldier was
reported wounded, killed or missing. Its staff grew in the course of the war from under
100 to over 300" and dealt with a mass of correspondence.*® Major James Lean, the
officer in charge, became well known publicly as much correspondence was issued under
his signature and official press notices relating to Base Records mentioned him by
name.*” In 1915, Base Records was described in one press report as ‘the link between
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the men on active service and the authorities and relatives at home ... besieged all day by
a constant stream of visitors seeking information about the men serving with the colours.’
An inquiry room was staffed for 12 hours each day and by September 1915 was receiving
an average of 660 visitors a day.*®

Politics: ‘the painful effect of suspense’

In July 1915 Pearce was forced to publicly defend Defence administration. In Parliament,
he stated:

as honourable Senators know, there have been complaints for some time, not merely with
regards to letters being sent to and received from the Dardanelles and Egypt but also in
connexion with cables and with the news as regards the disposition of the wounded.

He reported that he had contacted the base in Egypt: © ... informed them of the
complaints made in Parliament and in the press and I called for a report, informing
them of the suffering entailed on relatives.” He admitted: ‘we have found that wounded
men have sent letters to their relatives in Australia from hospitals in England, while we in
Australia had not been informed that the men had been sent to England at all, and
consequently we were not able to advise the relatives.” Pearce detailed the processes and
difficulties of communicating information about casualties, claiming that Australian staff
in Egypt could only pass on the information they received as ‘they themselves have no
knowledge whatever of the men who are wounded, killed or missing.” Pearce claimed that
telegrams were despatched to the relatives as soon as information was received, however
he stated: ‘T know there have been one or two instances where, through some mistake, or
owing to some carelessness, telegrams have not been sent, but exceedingly few cases have
occurred where the Defence Department have received a notification and have not sent it
on to the relatives before the casualty list has appeared in the press.”*

The government’s defence of its administration appeared on 2 September 1915 in the
Argus which reported Pearce’s statement that Base Records:

... came into personal association with the relatives of Australian soldiers under circum-
stances which demanded the utmost tact and sympathetic attention. The Department, fully
realising the painful effect of suspense, was doing its utmost to obviate any delay in
communicating to those concerned tidings received affecting their soldier relatives. It had
to be borne in mind the Minister added, that we were wholly dependent on the authorities in
Egypt for reports respecting our soldiers.”

On 29 October 1915, the government was again under pressure in Parliament over the
notification of casualties and this time the link was made to recruitment. The Member
for Richmond referred to ‘the existing method, or lack of method, of notifying
casualties to the relatives of those who have gone to the front ... In many cases that
have come under my own notice the notification of a casualty has reached the relatives
weeks after the casualty actually happened.” He went on to cite further cases of late
notification and claimed that the ‘failure of official information’ was adversely affecting
recruitment:

If there is one thing more than another that at present is retarding the recruiting movement
in this country, it is that relatives of soldiers at the front, once they are wounded, have the
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greatest difficulty in ascertaining what has happened to them ... We know that when
a parent has an experience of this kind, the story passes from mouth to mouth and is
more and more exaggerated. This tends to retard recruiting.

The discussion concluded that the fault lay not with Base Records in Melbourne but rather
with ‘the methods adopted for collating information at the front and sending it to Australia’
as the information received at Base Records ‘is weeks old, and is of no use whatever, or no
information at all is forthcoming.®' The situation appeared to require an overhaul of AIF
administration overseas, but this was not something the government had been prepared for.

AIF administration overseas: ‘the British machinery’

Involvement in the detail of AIF administration abroad was not contemplated by the
Australian government early in the war. A former Australian senior officer commented
in 1924 that at the outset ‘we thought ... administration would fall almost entirely on the
British machinery.”®> Major General Bridges, as General Officer Commanding, AIF, had
advised Pearce in 1914 that an AIF administrative and logistics structure in Egypt was not
necessary because responsibility for maintenance and supply of the AIF rested entirely
with the British War Office.”

During most of 1915, in answer to criticism of administration of the AIF, Pearce
maintained the position that administration was the responsibility of the British War
Office. In a debate in Parliament on 7 July, he stated: “The disposition of the wounded,
the compilation of the casualty lists, and the distribution of those casualty lists have nothing
to do with the Defence Department in Australia.” He claimed: ‘the conduct of the war was
not the responsibility of the Defence Department in Australia but of the War Office’ which
commanded the forces sent from Australia. ‘We can make our recommendations of course,
but, after all, we can only advise; we cannot direct the disposition of any of those troops.**

The Australian government’s response in August 1915 to complaints about the man-
agement of Australian military hospitals in Egypt clearly shows it regarded its responsi-
bilities at that time as limited. The government referred the problem to the British Army
Council because, as Pearce told the parliament, ‘all our military formations in Egypt are
under the control of the Army Council’, including the hospitals which although organised
in Australia, were ‘in active service and therefore under the control of the Army Council.’
The Australian government subsequently accepted the recommendations of a British
inquiry into management of the hospitals even before receiving the details of the report.>

In late 1915, it was becoming apparent that there existed for the AIF in Egypt an
administrative void which the Australian authorities could not ignore. Colonel Richard
Fetherston, Director-General of medical services for the AIF, charged by Pearce in
September 1915 to investigate problems with Australian medical units, made a tour of
inspection of Egypt, Gallipoli and England and reported of Egypt that ‘there was really no
one in charge of AAMC [Australian Army Medical Corps]’ and no Australian officer
‘with authority to act on matters solely Australian.”® The situation with AIF adminis-
tration in Egypt was such that Pearce did not know at the end of 1915 how many AIF
reinforcements were in Egypt.”” Pearce’s public position that AIF administration was
a British responsibility was proving to be untenable.
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AIF Base, Cairo: ‘an intermediate organization’

There were two organisations in Egypt responsible for collating and disseminating
information on Australian casualties. First, was the Australian Records Section,
Alexandria, with a small staff of AIF personnel within the British Third Echelon estab-
lishment. The second organisation, AIF Intermediate Base, Cairo, was established by
Pearce’s orders on 14 January 1915, only with the approval of the UK War Office, it
should be noted, because the British were too busy to be involved in routine details of AIF
administration. The commander of the AIF, Major-General Bridges, recommended the
establishment of the Intermediate Base because ‘the staft of this division is fully occupied
in training and administering the troops’ and there was consequently an urgent need for
‘an intermediate organization to conduct routine correspondence with the Department
of Defence and the High Commissioner’s Office, and to co-ordinate questions of pay and
equipment affecting the separated components of the Australian Imperial Force.”® The
commanding officer of the Base was Colonel Victor Sellheim.

At Cairo, information was maintained on the attestation papers, and on cards created
for each soldier. These were kept up to date by entering information received from the
Australian section at 3rd Echelon in Alexandria.”® Colonel Sellheim wrote in
November 1915: ‘At the present time there are actually over 110,000 Attestation Papers
in my possession, which are available for inspection at any time.” The Records Section in
Cairo dealt with all records of casualties and answered inquiries. With mounting
numbers wounded and killed, the Base was increasingly pivotal in relaying casualty
information. Sellheim reported 478 enquiries received in October and that the number
of enquiries was constantly increasing.*

Facing the problem of official casualty information: ‘meagre, inadequate
and unsatisfactory’

By July of 1915, the inadequacy of the existing AIF administration to furnish information
on casualties was becoming evident. On 6 July, Colonel Fetherston, Director General of
Medical Services for the AIF, wrote in a memo forwarded to Pearce:

The particulars which have been received from Egypt as to the wounds and subsequent
progress of soldiers have to the present been very meagre ... very inadequate and unsatis-
factory ... I think it is essential that some fuller particulars should be available

Fetherston suggested a small corps of medical officers be despatched to Egypt and
England to visit hospitals and send full details to Australia.®’ Later in July, the Defence
Department’s request for more information on the return to duty of sick and wounded
received the response from the AIF records section at Alexandria that ‘your request
involves enormous amount clerical labour ... regret impossible cable full information as
requested.”®® Further indications that official channels of information were inadequate
were the activities of the Red Cross. In August, a Red Cross representative wrote from
Cairo to Lady Helen (wife of the Australian Governor-General Sir Ronald Munro
Ferguson) that the only way to locate a wounded man was to inquire at each
hospital.”> In October, the Australian Wounded and Missing Inquiry Bureau of the
Red Cross was established in Egypt.**
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In July, Pearce commissioned the journalist Keith Murdoch to report on the state of
postal services and arrangements for reporting casualties. The circumstances of this show
the pressures on Pearce. The initiative came not from Pearce himself but from two
members of Parliament (not named) who approached Murdoch with the suggestion he
report on AIF administration in Egypt since he was travelling to London on business.
Murdoch informed Pearce the following day that he had asked the parliamentarians not
to embarrass Pearce by ‘any public agitation’ and that he believed an investigation was
warranted as ‘members of Parliament and the public are much concerned over postal
mistakes and delays and also delays in the issuing of casualty lists.”*> Pearce agreed to the
investigation and issued a press release that inferred it was his own idea.®® The episode
suggests that the parliamentarians were members of the government frustrated with
Pearce’s inaction over these issues. In his memoir Pearce refers to ‘the malcontent section
of the party ... those Federal Labour men who were most lukewarm in their support of
the war efforts were most energetic in exploiting to the full the grievances, real or
imagined, of the soldiers.”®”

Murdoch reported to Pearce in September 1915 that the means employed to obtain
information about the condition of wounded had been ‘only partly successful’ and that ‘a
great deal of distress can be alleviated by despatch of fuller and more prompt informa-
tion.” He found that Australian casualty lists cabled from the Australian section in
Alexandria were late and inaccurate and that there was ‘a large traffic’ in private
correspondence which should have been unnecessary were the government providing
full information to relatives. Murdoch recommended: “The anxiety of relatives to be
informed of the whereabouts and condition of wounded soldiers should be relieved as far
as practicable’. He saw the main difficulties as ‘collection of information’ and ‘expense’.
He suggested, among other things, that all cables on casualties be sent via the AIF
Intermediate Base in Cairo and that a mobile expert medical corps be despatched to
visit all hospital wards and relay information about the wounded. He reported:

Concerning collection of information, I discussed the question fully with Colonel Sellheim,
with officers commanding hospitals ... and it was agreed that the hospitals here and
elsewhere could supply the information ... It was agreed also that Australian mothers had
a perfect right to the information.®®

Of undoubted influence on Pearce was the separate, personal letter Murdoch sent to him
forcefully setting out his views. Murdoch urged that ‘the mail question must be seriously
faced’ and complained that he had weeks ago sent to the Department several cables
relating to the postal service and information on the wounded, ‘each concerning an
urgent matter’, which had not been acknowledged. He disparaged Sellheim and con-
cluded ‘you cannot get initiative from old Sellheim and you must do the job yourself in
Australia.” Murdoch added an annotation to the letter that Sellheim ‘has messed up
everything he has touched.”®

The Minister intervenes: ‘a very valuable report’

If Pearce had initial reluctance to involve himself at this level, Murdoch’s report and
private correspondence moved him to action. On the covering memo, Pearce noted ‘a
very valuable report’ and listed two actions as urgent, one concerning the postal service
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and the second concerning ‘news of wounded’. For the latter, he ordered a meeting to
consider Murdoch’s report, to be chaired by the AIF Adjutant-General and attended by
the Deputy Director General Medical Services, the Officer in Charge of Base Records
Melbourne (Major James Lean) and Mr Mitchell, the organiser of the Red Cross Enquiry
Bureau. The meeting, held on 9 November, recommended that the AIF Intermediate
Base in Cairo send regular updates on wounded and that a Central Casualty Bureau be
organised there to collate information on casualties. The text of the cable to the
Intermediate Base drafted by the meeting shows the level of commitment to addressing
the situation: “The Minister approves of additional staff ... Whatever difficulties occur
regarding interference with regulations of hospitals will be represented by Minister to the
Imperial Authorities on your recommendations.” On this occasion, there was no prior
referral to the British War Council for advice or approval. Between receipt of Murdoch’s
report in September and the meeting on 9 November, Pearce had faced severe criticism in
Parliament (29 October) over the failure in notifying relatives in Australia about casual-
ties, with the claim that this threatened voluntary recruitment. This no doubt added
urgency to the matter and may account for the decision to establish a permanent Central
Casualty Bureau within the AIF Intermediate base at Cairo, rather than the mobile
medical corps proposed by Murdoch.

Instructions for organising the Central Inquiry Bureau, as it was now officially named,
came from the Minister for Defence to the Intermediate Base on 14 November.”
Sellheim would not have appreciated this level of intervention. After the war he stated
that one of his problems in administering the Base was ‘the interference of the Defence
Department, Melbourne, and its sometimes unsympathetic and even hostile attitude
towards the Base.””" Nevertheless, the order to establish the Bureau was emphatic and,
as Sellheim expressed it, ‘at the insistent demand of the Australian Public to get accurate
and speedy information regarding casualties in much greater detail than is given in the
British Service ...

Brigadier-General Robert Carruthers, Deputy Assistant Adjutant and Quartermaster
General of the AIF, inspected the Intermediate Base in December 1915 and recorded the
following about the new Bureau, showing his understanding of the political aspects of its
establishment:

The A.LF. is composed mainly of men holding good positions in Australia who have
relinquished them for the period of the war to join the Force. The people of Australia
demand to be kept in the closest touch with their men in the field and to be informed
immediately should any member go into hospital. They insist on this and can bring political
pressure to bear on the Defence Minister which he cannot disregard. He has therefore issued
orders that every admission to hospital and progress returns for all serious cases shall be
cabled to Australia. It is necessary for some organisation to undertake the collecting and
transmission of this information and in order to do this, it must keep a record of every
individual member of the Force ... "

Women'’s suffrage: ‘the sentimental vote of the women’

When in his report of September 1915 Keith Murdoch remarked that ‘Australian
mothers had a perfect right to the information,”* he touched upon another factor in
the situation in Australia in 1915, women’s suffrage. In 1902, the Commonwealth
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Parliament passed legislation which enabled women 21 years of age and older to vote at
elections for the federal Parliament and to stand for the federal Parliament. Did the
circumstance of women having the vote make the government particularly concerned
about the problems of providing information on casualties in 1915? This is an important
question, as women’s right to vote distinguished Australia from most of its imperial allies:
in New Zealand women had been allowed to vote in national elections since 1893; in the
UK women could vote only in local elections.

Cultural attitudes of the time might have encouraged the authorities to regard women
as particularly sensitive to news of war casualties and consequently as a ‘weak link’ in
public support for recruitment. Joan Beaumont has remarked that “‘Wold War I did not
transform prevailing ideas about femininity in Australia’ and that ‘traditional gender
stereotypes were . .. reinforced by the war - that is, Australian men were expected to fight
while women remained at home “waiting and weeping”.””> Joy Damousi notes that it is
‘overwhelmingly the case’ that in Australia correspondence from soldiers was to their
mothers rather than to their fathers.”®

The depiction of women as especially under the sway of emotion is evident in
published material of the time. A pro-conscription pamphlet from 1916 is an example:

Not all anti-conscription women are the shrill self-assured determined ones in evidence at
meetings. There are many of them silent, timid, unhappy ... struggling with the question
“Shall I vote to send another woman’s son to the trenches?” They are the women in whom
sentiment holds stronger sway than reason and who must not be blamed that this is so, since
it is a matter of constitution ...

The pamphlet quotes the saying ‘Appeal to sentiment in a woman and you’ll win every
time’ and prevails upon women to ask themselves ‘is my sentiment going to prevent me
from voting to send the sons of these women to the trenches?””” The newsletter of the
Sailors’ and Soldiers’ Fathers Association of Victoria in 1918 urged mothers of soldiers
not to give way to ‘weakness or despair’ and encouraged them to resist such emotions and
‘steadfastly refuse to entertain thoughts that depress them’ and ‘resist with their will
power any suggestion of depressive thoughts just because by doing so they are not
playing the enemy’s game for him.””® A newspaper report of September 1915 describing
the scene at the Enquiry Office at Base Records in Melbourne where ‘hundreds of sorrow-
stricken relatives’ sought information about soldiers named in the public casualty lists
notes: ‘they are mostly women who visit this enquiry room. Occasionally a man is to be
seen but usually it is the women, the mothers, the sisters, the sweethearts, that takes upon
herself the sorrowful task of making these final inquiries.”” Writing in 1918 on the
rejection of conscription in Australia, Prime Minister Hughes stated: ‘How do I account
for the Australian vote say you? Well Sinn Fein, L W.W. selfishness and sentimental vote
of the women; AND WAR-WEARINESS !!"®° The vote of women was widely held at the
time to be responsible for the unsuccessful outcome of the two conscription referenda,
however, the role women’s voting played is still a matter of debate in academic
literature.®'

The growing voice in 1915 of women’s organised opposition to the war should have
given the authorities pause for thought about this new constituency. There were many
women’s organisations that came out in support of the war and conscription, mainly
middle class women who ‘spoke the language of imperial loyalty and militarism and
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supported with a growing passion the official efforts to persuade men to enlist.’®* It has
been claimed that conscription was supported by most women’s organisations during the
war.®’ Nevertheless, women’s anti-war groups were becoming prominent in 1915. Vida
Goldstein formed the Women’s Peace Army (WPA) in July 1915. The Sisterhood of
International Peace started in Melbourne in March of that year. In November 1915,
Adela Pankhurst and Cecilia John, after an extensive speaking tour, arrived in Brisbane to
establish a branch of the WPA there. On 2 September 1915, the young Quaker, Margaret
Thorpe, who was to play a leading role in anti-war activism, made her first appearance in
Brisbane at the School of Arts.

Women’s potential to influence was not due solely to their right to vote; the sight of
a woman in mourning black was ‘a daily reminder - to herself and others - that she was
part of Australia’s wartime sacrifice.®* Tanja Luckins has examined women’s use of
mourning black in Australia following the loss of relatives during the war, and concluded
that the wearing of mourning black in Australia was more widespread than previously
thought. She cites contemporary sources which remark on the ‘increasing presence of
mourning black in public’ after the first casualties at Gallipoli. Luckins remarks:

As the death toll began to mount after Gallipoli, it became clear to commentators that death
in war was not an abstract heroic concept; instead it had a stark presence on the home front.
Importantly these women in black did not fade away - they kept growing in numbers.*

Mourning black was ‘a material trace’ of loss. Women in mourning also wore ribbons,
badges and brooches enclosing a soldier’s portrait. These were potent symbols with the
power to influence people. The pro-conscriptionists in 1916 avoided reference to mourn-
ing, whereas the anti-conscriptionists aimed their propaganda at those who had lost
relatives and used the motif of mourning. Luckins instances the use of the image of the
grieving woman in black in anti-conscription cartoons, handbills and posters, and
suggests ‘the woman in black and notions of loss and sacrifice’ as an influence on the
outcome of the 1916 conscription referendum.®

The question is whether the Australian government was at all influenced by concern
that a significant number of women might waiver in their support for the war. According
to his memoir of 1951, Pearce was not at first concerned about women’s support for the
war and enlistment. Referring to the failure of the 1916 conscription referendum he says:

What we had not reckoned with was the silent opinion of many thousands of the relatives,
particularly the mothers, of the men at the War. It was assumed that these would vote almost
unanimously in the affirmative. But an appeal of a most ingenious nature was made to them.
“Would you compulsorily send another woman’s son to suffer what your son has suffered at
the War?” Illogical as it was it went to the hearts of thousands of loyal women whose souls
had suffered the anguish of bereavement and loss.*”

According to his recollection then, Pearce’s concern over casualty information in 1915
would have been purely in relation to the immediate political situation: his aim was to
shut down criticism of the government and the undermining of enlistments, not to shore
up women’s support for the war. Although Pearce appears in this quote to imply the
whole government shared his disregard of the voting power of women (note the use of
‘we’), this would not have applied to Prime Minister Hughes. Leading to the first
conscription vote in 1916, Hughes spoke to women only gatherings, including addressing
‘the largest gathering of women ever seen in Sydney at the Town Hall’ where ‘the women
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rose and waved handkerchiefs and flags for several minutes.”®® Hughes published a pro-
conscription manifesto to “The Women of Australia’ in 1916 in which he said:

In your hands lies the destiny of your country. You are to decide it by your vote ... For the
first time in history the voice of woman is to speak directly to the greatest question that can

confront any community ... The responsibility of Australia’s decision rests upon Australian

women.89

It is possible that Hughes pressured Pearce to do something to improve the flow of
information about casualties out of concern to maintain women’s support for the war.
Hughes became Prime Minister on 27 October 1915; on 29 October, Massy-Greene made
the claim in Parliament that lack of information about casualties was hindering recruit-
ment; on 9 November, Pearce convened the meeting which recommended the creation of
the Central Inquiry Bureau at AIF Base, Cairo.”® The sequence of events is suggestive of
Hughes’ influence. So is a reference in correspondence between Hughes and the
Governor-General of Australia. On 15 November 1915, the Governor-General wrote to
Hughes ‘T would much like to talk with you on military and other matters’ and proposed
a meeting on 28 November. On 3 December, the Governor-General wrote to Hughes,
presumably referring to their meeting: “There is nothing against Sellheim in any letter
I have received — the impression I conveyed to you was derived therefore from hearsay.”’
It is significant that the Australian Intermediate Base, Cairo, and its commanding officer,
Colonel Sellheim, were part of the ‘military matters’ discussed. Administration of the
ATF, far from being left to the British, was being considered by the two individuals at the
highest level of the Australian government. It is an attractive notion that provision of
casualty information and the new Central Inquiry Bureau established at the Base may
also have been discussed and that AIF recordkeeping had, at least at this moment,
achieved such prominence in government deliberations. The evidence therefore is
suggestive, if not conclusive, that Pearce’s intervention in AIF recordkeeping was influ-
enced by Hughes’s concern over the votes of women. Later in the war, Pearce showed
more concern over women’s opinions. In his defence in 1917 of the banning of the
temperance publication for depicting soldiers as drunkards, Pearce remarked in
Parliament: ‘Can anybody say that the circulation of such a book among the wives and
mothers of Australia to whose husbands and sons we are appealing to enlist, would not be
prejudicial to recruiting?’®?

AIF Base, Cairo: ‘an Australian agency’

Just when the Australian government was coming to understand the political importance of
the AIF records administration, the British authorities were taking a different view based on
considerations of efficiency. In late October 1915, the British authorities in Egypt proposed
to abolish the Records and Inquiry Subsection at the Intermediate Base and incorporate it in
Third Echelon of the Mediterranean Expeditionary Force, Alexandria, for the reason that
there was no need for records to be kept at the Base when there was already an AIF records
office in Melbourne. Sellheim, defending the current arrangements, presented himself as the
representative of the Australian government in Egypt and ‘responsible for the protection of
its interests.” He referred to the ‘peculiar and abnormal set of circumstances surrounding the
employment of the Australian Imperial force in the Empire’s cause’ and argued that
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administrative arrangements for British troops abroad did not exist for the AIF and that
British administration could not always be utilised for the needs of the AIF especially for
documenting movements of AIF casualties. Sellheim maintained that the Intermediate Base
was ‘very much in the nature of an Australian Agency.’ Sellheim’s main concern was of
course that he had just been instructed by the Australian Government ‘to organise a Central
Inquiry Bureau for the purpose of dealing with certain special information which they desire
to be forwarded to them daily ... I feel sure they will demur if any other arrangement is
made and am personally of the opinion anything else would be inadvisable.””

By this time the Australian government had come to understand the importance for
Australian interests of having some control over AIF administration. When Sellheim
reported to the Department of Defence the British proposal and his response, he received
the reply: ‘the Minister desires to convey to you his commendation of the attitude taken by
you in the matter ... your attitude and standpoint of view has the Minister’s full approval.”*

The Central Inquiry Bureau was transferred to AIF Headquarters, London, in 1916,
becoming known there as C Records section. In addition to the recording and notifica-
tion of casualties, C Records compiled the casualty lists for publication in the press. The
section continued its role, begun in Egypt, of answering inquiries from the public. In
November 1915, Base Records Cairo averaged 30 or 40 answers daily to public inquiries,
by May 1916, C Records at Horseferry Road, London, was averaging between 80 and 100
letters per day; due to casualties from the fighting of August 1916 inward letters reached
a daily average of 400, and daily notification of casualties reached the same number.”
What began as the Central Inquiry Bureau in Cairo, formed in London an integral part of
a comprehensive personnel recordkeeping administration for the First AIF which grew in
size and complexity over the course of the war.”®

Conclusion

The creation of the Central Inquiry Bureau was seemingly a straightforward, even minor,
organisational change within the recordkeeping administration. However, this decision
about AIF recordkeeping was influenced by politics and public opinion in a situation in
which Australia depended on volunteer enlistment to maintain its contribution to the
war effort. War was the overriding context to First AIF recordkeeping: war which caused
distress to families lacking news of their loved ones in a distant conflict and in 1915 made
the Australian public for the first time aware of the realities of warfare and shook its
confidence in swift victory.

Testament to First AIF recordkeeping are the AIF personnel files preserved by the
National Archives of Australia. These files, apart from documents, occasionally contain
artefacts which make material links to the soldiers and the war. One file has a small buft
envelope containing fragments of singed uniform fabric, all that was recovered of
a soldier killed by an exploding shell. This a poignant intersection of records of war
with evidence of the human toll of warfare.
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